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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT  

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 

 )  

In re: ) Chapter 11 

 )  

WINDSTREAM FINANCE CORP., et al.,1 ) Case No. 19-22397 (RDD) 

 )  

   Reorganized Debtors. ) 

) 

) 

(Formerly Jointly Administered under 

Lead Case: Windstream Holdings, Inc., 

Case No. 19-22312) 

 )  

WINDSTREAM KDL, LLC )  

 )  

Plaintiff, ) Adversary Proceeding 

 )  

v. ) Case No. 21-_____ (RDD) 

 )  

CMN-RUS, INC. )  

 )  

Defendant. )  

 

ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 

 The above-captioned debtors (the “Debtors”), as reorganized pursuant to and under the 

Plan (defined below) (collectively, the “Reorganized Debtors”), bring this Original Complaint 

against CMN-RUS, Inc. (“CMN”), seeking (1) reimbursement for excess payments by 

Windstream KDL, LLC (“Windstream KDL”) to CMN, (2) payment for CMN’s use of 

Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis site racks and power, and (3) payment for CMN’s outstanding 

invoices for fiber optic cable installation on a third-party’s utility pole network through 

Windstream KDL’s private contract with that third party, and respectfully alleges as follows: 

                                                           
1  The last four digits of Reorganized Debtor Windstream Finance Corp.’s tax identification number are 5713.  Due 

to the large number of Reorganized Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, for which joint administration has been 

granted, a complete list of the debtor entities and the last four digits of their federal tax identification numbers is 

not provided herein.  A complete list of such information may be obtained on the website of the Reorganized 

Debtors’ claims and noticing agent at http://www.kccllc.net/windstream.  The location of the Reorganized 

Debtors’ service address for purposes of these Chapter 11 Cases is:  4001 North Rodney Parham Road, Little 

Rock, Arkansas 72212. 
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NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. On February 25, 2019, the Debtors filed voluntary petitions for relief under title 11 

of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101-1532 (the “Bankruptcy Code”). CMN submitted to 

the Bankruptcy Court its proof of claims, to which certain Debtors have objected, all of which is 

set forth in detail below. In pursuing some of these claims, however, CMN has not accounted for 

its own outstanding debts owed to Windstream KDL.  

2. Prior to the filing of the bankruptcy petitions, Windstream KDL and CMN had 

entered into a number of contractual agreements for services that include the provision of rack 

space and power to each party’s benefit. Both Windstream KDL and CMN have used and continue 

to use rack space and power to deliver services to their respective customers. In general, the parties 

enjoy these services, which are mutually beneficial, in consideration for the provision of rack space 

and power at one another’s facilities.  

3. Despite these contractual agreements, CMN overcharged Windstream KDL for 

excess rack space that Windstream KDL did not utilize. Based on information known to date, 

Windstream KDL inadvertently overpaid $896,703.32 for services in Evansville, Indiana, that 

CMN did not provide or that should have been provided without charge, per the agreements. CMN 

therefore materially breached the parties’ agreement that CMN would provide free rack services 

to Windstream KDL in Evansville, Indiana, subject to certain power overages provisions. 

4. In consideration of CMN’s provision of free rack space and power to Windstream 

KDL in Evansville, Windstream KDL provided CMN with free rack space and power at its 

Indianapolis, Indiana facility. Based on information known to date, CMN accrued $259,747.51 in 

power overages and $382,000 in rack space charges for sixteen racks (i.e., a number in excess of 
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the 10 racks to be provided free of charge per the parties’ agreement) at the Indianapolis facility 

since 2008. Windstream KDL is entitled to payment from CMN for those accrued fees.   

5. Finally, CMN is indebted to Windstream KDL for outstanding invoices for services 

Windstream KDL provided that are related to a third-party contract owned by Windstream KDL. 

Windstream KDL contracted with affiliates of third-party Duke Energy Corporation (“Duke 

Power”) to have the right to attach fibers to Duke Power’s network of poles, and CMN contracted 

with Windstream KDL to access that network. CMN is contractually obligated to pay for the 

installation of its fiber optic cables in Duke Power’s network of utility poles through Windstream 

KDL. Based on information known to date, CMN has an outstanding balance of $329,001.72 

related to those services.    

PARTIES 

6. Windstream KDL is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the 

Commonwealth of Kentucky with its headquarters in the State of Arkansas.  It is a leading provider 

of advanced network communications and technology solutions for consumers, businesses, 

enterprise organizations, and wholesale customers across the United States. Windstream KDL 

provides these solutions across a range of services including cloud computing, integrated voice 

and data services, internet security services, and consumer video services. 

7. Upon information and belief, CMN is a corporation organized under the laws of the 

State of Indiana with its headquarters in the State of Indiana.  It is engaged in, among other things, 

fiber optic communication services, and it offers internet, telephone, television, and data 

communication services.  CMN’s registered agent for service of process in Indiana is National 

Registered Agents, Inc., 334 North Senate Avenue, Indianapolis, IN 46204. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has jurisdiction over these proceedings pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1334. 

9. This Court has personal jurisdiction over CMN under Rule 7004(f) of the Federal 

Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure (the “Bankruptcy Rules”).  

10. This adversary proceeding constitutes a “core” proceeding as defined in 28 U.S.C. 

§ 157(b)(2)(A), (B) and (C).  In the event that this or any other appropriate Court finds any part of 

this adversary proceeding to be “non-core,” Windstream KDL consents to the entry of final orders 

and judgments by this Court, pursuant to Rule 7008 of the Bankruptcy Rules. 

11. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409 because this adversary 

proceeding arises under and in connection with a bankruptcy case pending in this district. 

12. This adversary proceeding is initiated under Bankruptcy Rule 7001(1) and (9), and 

28 U.S.C. § 2201. 

RELEVANT BACKGROUND 

I. The Contracts  

13. Throughout the tenure of their relationship, the parties have executed multiple 

agreements related to the provision of rack space, power, and shared infrastructure. Relevant here 

are the following agreements: 

a.  the Collocation and Maintenance Agreement and its amendments (the 

“Collocation Agreement,” attached as Exhibit 1),  

b. the Rack Space Swap Agreement (the “Rack Swap Agreement,” attached as 

Exhibit 2).  

c. the Pole Attachment Rights/Dark Fiber Rights Exchange Agreement (the “Duke 

Power Agreement”),  

d. the  Fiber Transport Services/Dark Fiber Rights Exchange Agreement (attached 

as Exhibit 3), 

e. the DWDM Capacity and Maintenance Agreement, and  
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f. the Fiber Exchange Agreement.  

A. The Collocation Agreement 

14. The parties entered the Collocation Agreement, with an effective date of February 

7, 2005, for the purpose of Windstream KDL providing certain maintenance services. Collocation 

Agreement §§ 1, 3. In exchange for providing the maintenance services, Windstream KDL would 

receive a license from CMN to use its facilities. Collocation Agreement §§ 2, 7. In particular, CMN 

agreed to provide licenses for five racks and a power allotment at no additional charge to 

Windstream KDL at its Evansville facility (among other facilities). Collocation Agreement § 2 & 

Ex. A.  

15. If Windstream KDL utilized more than the racks allotted under this agreement at 

any facility, CMN would be allowed to charge Windstream KDL $500 per additional rack. 

Collocation Agreement § 4. Similarly, if Windstream KDL consumed additional power beyond its 

allotment, the parties created a formula for that cost coverage. Collocation Agreement § 4.  

B. The Rack Swap Agreement 

16. The parties also entered the Rack Swap Agreement for the purpose of providing 

each party with free rack space and 30 amps of power per rack at each other’s respectively owned 

facility. Rack Swap Agreement § 1. Windstream KDL was entitled to ten racks and 300 amps of 

power at no additional charge at CMN’s Evansville facility; CMN, in turn, was entitled to ten racks 

and 300 amps of power at Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility. Rack Swap Agreement § 2. 

For any additional power used beyond the provided 300 amps, the parties agreed to a formula for 

determining that cost coverage. Rack Swap Agreement § 2. 

17. In sum, under the Collocation Agreement and the Rack Swap Agreement, 

Windstream KDL was entitled to (and it was the intent of the parties that Windstream KDL have) 

free use of fifteen racks and a power allotment without charge from CMN.  
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C. The Duke Power Agreement 

18. Finally, the parties entered into the Duke Power Agreement on February 7, 2005, 

for the purpose of CMN accessing Duke Power’s utility poles in order to locate fiber optic cables 

on those poles through Windstream KDL’s separate contract with Duke Power. Duke Power 

Agreement § 1.  

19. Windstream KDL had contracted with Duke Power to access its utility poles for 

Windstream KDL’s fiber optic cable. Duke Power Agreement § 1 & Ex. A. CMN wanted access 

to Duke’s utility pole network as well and agreed to pay Windstream KDL a premium to piggyback 

off of its contract with Duke Power. Duke Power Agreement § 4. CMN notified Windstream KDL 

when it wanted to locate fiber optic cable along Duke’s utility poles; if approved, Windstream 

KDL oversaw the installation and charged CMN all costs for said installation as well as an 

overhead allocation equal to 15% of the total costs. Duke Power Agreement § 4.   

II. The Breaches 

20. First, since December 2012 and continuing through September 2021, CMN has 

billed Windstream KDL $1,008,687.32 for excess rack space in connection with CMN’s 

Evansville facility. These charges were billed to Windstream KDL without accounting for the 

fifteen free rack spaces provided under the Collocation Agreement and the Rack Swap Agreement.  

21. Based upon information and belief, Windstream KDL has used fewer than fifteen 

racks at the Evansville facility at all relevant times. And despite inadvertently paying those charges 

in full through September 2020 (in the amount of $896,703.32), Windstream KDL disputes those 

charges in the amount of $1,008,687.32 and demands a refund of $896,703.32.  

22. Second, based upon information and belief, CMN occupies sixteen racks of space 

at Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility, eleven since 2008, followed by the addition of five 
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racks from 2009 through 2013.2  This usage was in excess of the ten licensed racks under the Rack 

Swap Agreement. Thus, CMN has accrued $382,000 in rack space fees at the Indianapolis facility.  

23. Third, based upon information and belief, CMN has also accumulated power 

overages at Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility since 2008, totaling $259,747.51.  

24. Fourth, Duke Power filed a proof of claim in Debtors’ bankruptcy proceedings 

totaling $1,134,043.69. See Claim No. 7261. Debtors obtained a reduction in the amounts owed to 

Duke Power to $441,393.00 (the “Duke Settlement Payment”).  In connection with that negotiated 

reduction, Debtors and CMN agreed that CMN would pay directly to Windstream KDL 

$200,000.00 (the “CMN Settlement Payment”) of the Duke Settlement Payment to account for 

fourteen of CMN’s invoices that were encompassed by Duke’s proof of claim against Windstream 

KDL. CMN has not yet paid Windstream KDL that settlement amount.  

25. Fifth, based upon information and belief, CMN also owes Windstream KDL 

$129,001.72 for outstanding invoices that are unrelated to the CMN Settlement Payment but that 

arise out of the Duke Power Agreement. CMN has failed to pay Windstream KDL for those 

services rendered. 

III. The Plan, the CMN Proofs of Claim and the Claim Objections 

A. The Plan 

26. On April 1, 2020, the Debtors filed the Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of 

Windstream Holdings, Inc., et al., Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (as subsequently 

amended, the “Plan”) [Docket No. 2243-1]. 

27. On June 26, 2020, the Court entered the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 

Order Confirming the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Windstream 

                                                           
2 These five racks were added on or about 6/10/2009, 8/15/2011, 5/7/2012, 7/24/2012, and 11/22/2013. 
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Holdings, Inc. et al., Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, confirming the Debtors’ 

Plan [Docket No. 2243]. 

28. The Plan became effective on September 21, 2020 (the “Effective Date”) [Docket 

No. 2527]. 

29. Pursuant to Article I.A.38 of the Plan, the deadline for objecting to Claims (as 

defined in the Plan), the “Claims Objection Deadline,” “shall be on the date that is the later of (a) 

180 days after the Effective Date and (b) such later date as may be fixed by the Bankruptcy Court.”  

Based on the provisions of the Plan, the current Claims Objection Deadline is December 15, 2021 

[Docket No. 199]. 

B. The CMN Proofs of Claim and the Claim Objections 

30. CMN filed various pre- and post-petition proofs of claim against the Debtors.  

Specifically, CMN filed a pre-petition claim in the amount of $432,439.00 (Claim No. 5161 

against Windstream KDL), a pre-petition claim in an unliquidated amount (Claim No. 8710 against 

Windstream KDL), and a post-petition claim in the amount of $100,933.36 (Claim No. 8713 

against Windstream KDL). 

31. On July 17, 2020, and in compliance with the Order (I) Approving (A) Omnibus 

Claims Objection Procedures, (B) Omnibus Substantive Claims Objections and Form of Notice, 

and (C) Satisfaction Procedures and Form of Notice and (II) Waiving Bankruptcy Rule 3007(e)(6) 

(the “Order Approving Omnibus Claims Objection Procedures”) [Docket No. 1141], the Debtors 

filed the Sixth Omnibus Objection to Amended Claims, Cross-Debtor Duplicate Claims, Equity 

Interest Claims, and No Liability Claims (the “Sixth Omnibus Objection”) [Docket No. 2317], 

which included an objection to Claim 5161 “because, among other reasons, the Debtors are unable 

to reconcile each purported liability with their books and records.”  See Sixth Omnibus Objection, 

¶ 1.  The Sixth Omnibus Objection further provides that the Debtors object to the claims listed on 
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Schedule 4 to the proposed order, which includes Claim 5161, because “the Debtors and their 

advisors have determined that such claims seek to recover amounts for which the Debtors are not 

liable.”  Id. at ¶ 15.  As set forth on Schedule 4 to the proposed order, “[p]ursuant to the Debtors’ 

books and records, no amounts are due and no liability exists for this claimant.”  Id. at Schedule 

4, p. 7. 

32. On August 7, 2020, CMN filed its response to the Sixth Omnibus Objection 

[Docket No. 2379] in which CMN asserts that the Sixth Omnibus Objection should be denied. 

33. On August 31, 2021, and in compliance with the Order Approving Omnibus Claims 

Objection Procedures, the Debtors filed the Twentieth Omnibus Objection to the No Liability 

Claims, Substantively Duplicative Claims, and Claims to Be Modified (the “Twentieth Omnibus 

Objection”) [Docket No. 184], which included objections to Claim 8710 and 8713 “because each 

purported liability cannot be reconciled with the Debtors’ books and records . . . .”  See Twentieth 

Omnibus Objection, ¶ 1.  The Twentieth Omnibus Objection further provides that the Debtors 

object to the claims listed on Schedule 1 to the proposed order, which includes Claim 8710 and 

Claim 8713, because “the Reorganized Debtors and their advisors have determined that such 

claims seek to recover amounts for which the Debtors are not liable” and such claims are 

“inconsistent with the Debtors’ books and records.”  Id. at ¶¶ 11 and 13.  As set forth on Schedule 

1 to the proposed order, the Reorganized Debtors provide the following additional grounds for 

objecting: 

Claim 8710.  Pursuant to the Debtors’ books and records, no amounts are due and no 

liability exists for this claimant. This claim remains unliquidated as of the date hereof. 

 

Claim 8713.  Pursuant to the Debtors’ books and records, no amounts are due and no 

liability exists for this claimant.  This claim alleges obligations related to power charges 

for facilities in Wolcott, Marion, and Seymour.  However, the claimant owes the 

Reorganized Debtors on account of certain power payments for a facility in Indianapolis.  

In addition, the claimant owes the Reorganized Debtors for inadvertent payments the 
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Debtors made on account of fifteen (15) racks in Evansville that were to be free of charge 

pursuant to certain contract amendment(s).  The Reorganized Debtors have provided 

materials for the claimant’s review, including calculations.   

 

Id. at Schedule 1, p. 1. 

34. On September 22, 2021, CMN filed its response to the Twentieth Omnibus 

Objection [Docket No. 189] in which CMN asserts that the Twentieth Omnibus Objection should 

be denied. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I 

(Breach of Contract: Overcharges as to 

Collocation Agreement and Rack Space Agreement) 

35. Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the 

foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.  

36. Windstream KDL performed all of its obligations under the Collocation 

Agreement and the Rack Swap Agreement.  

37. CMN, however, has breached the Collocation Agreement and Rack Swap 

Agreement. CMN has, among other things, (a) overcharged Windstream KDL $1,008,687.32 

(through September 2021) for the provision of rack space in Evansville that should have been 

free to Windstream KDL, and (b) refused to issue a refund for Windstream KDL’s inadvertent 

overpayment of $896,703.32 despite being unjustly enriched by funds CMN did not earn.  

38. These breaches violate at least Section 3 of the Collocation Agreement and 

Section 2 of the Rack Swap Agreement and have interfered with Windstream KDL’s contractual 

right to free access to fifteen racks and power at CMN’s Evansville facility.  

39. Windstream KDL has satisfied all conditions precedent to seeking relief under 

the Collocation Agreement, including Section 18 thereof, and the Rack Swap Agreement, 
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including Section 14 thereof.  

40. Windstream KDL has suffered and continues to suffer damages as a result of the 

breaches of contract.  

41. Windstream KDL, therefore, is entitled to (i) a declaration that CMN breached 

the Collocation Agreement and Rack Swap Agreement, and (ii) monetary damages and/or offset 

or recoupment of monetary damages CMN is pursuing against Windstream KDL in CMN’s 

proofs of claim. 

42. Windstream KDL may claim greater damages once it better learns through 

discovery how CMN calculated certain invoiced charges. 

COUNT II 

(Unjust Enrichment) 

43. Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the 

foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein. 

44. As a result of the conduct described in Count I, CMN has been unjustly enriched 

at the expense of Windstream KDL.  

45. CMN has charged $1,008,687.32 (through September 2021) and Windstream 

KDL inadvertently paid $896,703.32 for rack space in connection with the Evansville facility. 

Those charges did not account for the fifteen racks provided to Windstream KDL under the 

Collocation Agreement and Rack Swap Agreement.  

46. Windstream KDL disputed $896,703.32 of those charges because CMN 

accepted payment for services it did not perform, but CMN refused to refund $896,703.32 of 

those charges. 

47. Windstream KDL has satisfied all conditions precedent to seeking relief under 

Collocation Agreement and Rack Swap Agreement. 
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48. Windstream KDL has suffered and continues to suffer damages as a result of 

CMN’s unjust enrichment at the expense of Windstream KDL. 

49. CMN should be required to disgorge the improper benefits that they unjustly 

obtained at the expense of Windstream KDL. 

50. Windstream KDL, therefore, is entitled to monetary damages and/or offset or 

recoupment of monetary damages CMN is pursuing against Windstream KDL in CMN’s proofs 

of claim.  

51. Windstream KDL may claim greater damages once it better learns through 

discovery how CMN calculated certain invoiced charges. 

COUNT III 

(Declaratory Judgment – Evansville Facility Racks) 

52. Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the 

foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein. 

53. A substantial controversy exists as to the parties’ rights and obligations under the 

Collocation Agreement and Rack Space Agreement. 

54. Windstream KDL therefore seeks the following declarations: 

a. Under the Collocation Agreement and the Rack Space Agreement, 

Windstream is entitled to licenses to 15 racks free of charge in CMN’s 

Evansville facility. 

b. CMN invalidly charged $1,008,687.32 for excess rack space in connection 

with CMN’s Evansville facility for the time period of December 2012 to 

September 2021, and such amount is not due and owing to CMN. 

COUNT IV 

(Breach of Contract – Overdue Invoices for Rack Space and Power) 

55. Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the 

foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein. 

56. Windstream KDL performed all of its obligations under the Rack Swap 
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Agreement. 

57. CMN, however, has breached the Rack Swap Agreement. CMN has, among 

other things: (a) utilized sixteen racks at Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility and 

accumulated $382,000 of unpaid rack space fees, and (b) incurred power overages at 

Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility and accumulated $259,747.51 of unpaid power 

overage fees. 

58. These breaches violate at least Section 2 of the Rack Swap Agreement. 

59. Windstream KDL has suffered and continues to suffer damages as a result of the 

breaches of contract. 

60. Windstream KDL, therefore, is entitled to (i) a declaration that CMN breached 

the Rack Swap Agreement, and (ii) monetary damages and/or offset or recoupment of monetary 

damages CMN is pursuing against Windstream KDL in CMN’s proofs of claim. 

COUNT V 

(Declaratory Judgment – Indianapolis Facility Racks) 

 

61. Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the 

foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein. 

62. A substantial controversy exists as to the parties’ rights and obligations under 

the Rack Space Agreement. 

63. Windstream KDL therefore seeks the following declarations: 

a. Since 2008, CMN has at all times used in excess of 10 racks in Windstream 

KDL’s Indianapolis facility. 

b. CMN is responsible for license fees and power overages for its use of in excess 

of 10 racks in KDL’s Indianapolis facility. 

COUNT VI 

(Breach of Contract – Duke Power Agreement) 

64. Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the 
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foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein. 

65. Windstream KDL performed all of its obligations under the Duke Power 

Agreement.  

66. CMN, however, has breached the Duke Power Agreement. CMN has, among 

other things, failed to pay $129,001.72 in outstanding invoices to Windstream KDL for 

installation of CMN’s fiber cables on Duke Power’s network of utility poles.  Additionally, 

CMN has not yet paid the CMN Settlement Payment to Windstream KDL. 

67. CMN’s breach violates at least Sections 4 and 6 of the Duke Power Agreement 

and have interfered with Windstream KDL’s right to payment for services rendered to CMN at 

Windstream KDL’s expense.  

68. Windstream KDL has satisfied all conditions precedent to seeking relief under 

the Duke Power Agreement, including Section 25 thereof. 

69. Windstream KDL has suffered and continues to suffer damages as a result of the 

breach of contract.  

70. Windstream KDL, therefore, is entitled to (i) a declaration that CMN breached 

the Duke Power Agreement, and (ii) monetary damages and/or offset or recoupment of 

monetary damages CMN is pursuing against Windstream KDL in CMN’s proofs of claim. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

71. Windstream KDL respectfully requests that this Court enter a judgment granting 

the following relief: 

a) A declaration that CMN breached the Collocation Agreement;  

b) A declaration that CMN breached the Rack Swap Agreement; 

c) A declaration that CMN breached the Duke Power Agreement;  
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d) A declaration that under the Collocation Agreement and the Rack Space 

Agreement, Windstream is entitled to licenses to 15 racks free of charge in 

CMN’s Evansville facility; 

e) An award of $896,703.32 as a refund for Windstream KDL’s overpayment 

for racks in Evansville, Indiana, under the Collocation Agreement and the 

Rack Swap Agreement;  

f) A declaration that CMN invalidly charged $1,008,687.32 for excess rack 

space in connection with CMN’s Evansville facility for the time period of 

December 2012 to September 2021, and such amount is not due and 

owing to CMN; 

g) A declaration that Since 2008, CMN has at all times used in excess of 10 

racks in Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility; 

h) A declaration that CMN is responsible for license fees and power overages 

for its use of in excess of 10 racks in KDL’s Indianapolis facility; 

i) An award of $641,747.51 for CMN’s use of sixteen racks with excess 

power charges in Indianapolis, Indiana;  

j) An award of $129,001.72 for CMN’s outstanding invoices and related 

debts concerning the Duke Power Agreement; 

k) An award of $200,000.00 for the CMN Settlement Payment that CMN has 

not yet paid to Windstream KDL; 

l) An order sustaining the objections to Claim Nos. 5161, 8710, and 8713 for 

the reasons stated in this Complaint, the Sixth Omnibus Objection, and the 

Twentieth Omnibus Objection; 

m) A judgment that CMN take nothing on Claim Nos. 5161, 8710, and 8713; 

n) Attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses incurred in this Adversary Proceeding 

to the extent recoverable;  

o) Pre- and post-judgment interest up to the statutory maximum; and  

p) Any other relief that this Court may deem just, proper, or equitable under 

the circumstances. 
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Dated: October 22, 2021 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT US LLP 

 

By:    /s/ James V. Leito IV  

Richard Krumholz  

Kristian W. Gluck 

James V. Leito IV (pro hac vice pending) 

NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT US LLP 

2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 3600 

Dallas, Texas 75201-7932 

Telephone: (214) 855-8000  

Facsimile:  (214) 855-8200 

richard.krumholz@nortonrosefulbright.com 

kristian.gluck@nortonrosefulbright.com 

james.leito@nortonrosefulbright.com 

 

COUNSEL FOR WINDSTREAM KDL, LLC 
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